FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
12/30/2020 3:40 PM

SUPREME COURT NO. 99376-9 COA NO. 36281-7-III

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/31/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

RICHARD VASQUEZ, JR., Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

Yakima County Cause No. 14-1-01397-39

The Honorable Gayle M. Harthcock, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Skylar T. Brett Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

LAW OFFICE OF SKYLAR T. BRETT, PLLC
P.O. Box 18084
Seattle, WA 98118
(206) 494-0098
skylarbrettlawoffice@gmail.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Richard Vasquez, Jr., the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Richard Vasquez, Jr. seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on December 10, 2020. A copy of the opinion is attached.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Art. I, § 14 of the Washington Constitution is more protective than the Eighth Amendment and erects a categorical bar against sentences based on juvenile convictions when those sentences run contrary to national consensus and should not be permitted in the exercise of independent judicial judgment. Did the trial court violate art. I, § 14 by counting Mr. Vasquez's 1983 conviction from when he was sixteen years old as a "strike" offense, leading to a mandatory sentence of life without the possibility of parole?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Richard Vasquez was convicted in adult court of first-degree robbery when he was just sixteen years old. *See* Ex. SE-CC (sentencing). Based on the conclusion that that conviction from when Mr. Vasquez was a juvenile qualified as a "strike," a court sentenced him to a sentence of Life Without the Possibility of Parole (LWOP) after a third "strike" conviction after he reached adulthood. CP 14-22. The court dismissed Mr.

Vasquez's objection that the LWOP sentence constituted cruel and unusual punishment. RP 737.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review and hold that the conviction entered when Mr. Vasquez was sixteen years old is categorically barred under art. I, § 14 from qualifying as a "strike" offense supporting a sentence of Life Without the Possibility of Parole.

Mr. Vasquez was sentenced to a term of life without the possibility of parole (LWOP) under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act, or three-strikes statute. CP 14-22. One of the predicate "strike" offenses for his LWOP sentence occurred in 1983, when Mr. Vasquez was sixteen years old. *See* Ex. SE-CC (sentencing).

But recent advancements in adolescent brain research have led to significant evolvements in Eighth Amendment and art. I, § 14 jurisprudence related to young offenders. *See e.g. Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012); *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010), *as modified* (July 6, 2010); *State v. Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67, 85, 428 P.3d 343 (2018); *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 18, 391 P.3d 409 (2017). Accordingly, the This Court has held that the State Constitution categorically bars LWOP sentences for offenses committed by juveniles. *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 85.

In this case, however, a conviction from when Mr. Vasquez was sixteen years old led to the imposition of a mandatory LWOP sentence in the instant case. CP 14-22; Ex. SE-CC. Under the logic of *Graham*, *Miller*, *Bassett*, and related cases, Mr. Vasquez's reduced culpability at the age of sixteen bars that conviction from counting as a "strike" under the POAA. *Miller*, 567 U.S. 460; *Graham*, 560 U.S. 48; *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67; *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1.

"Children are different" under the Eighth Amendment and art. I, § 14. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 481; *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 18; U.S. Const. Amend. VIII; art. I, § 14.

This is because the still-developing adolescent brain causes young people to be "overrepresented statistically in virtually every category of reckless behavior." *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 569, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005) (*citing* Arnett, Reckless Behavior in Adolescence: A Developmental Perspective, 12 Developmental Rev. 339 (1992)); *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 68. Brain science demonstrates fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds as related to the parts of the brain that control behavior. *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 68.

Juveniles are also more susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures than adults and are also less able to control their own environment. *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 569 (*citing* Steinberg & Scott, Less

Guilty by Reason of Adolescence: Developmental Immaturity, Diminished Responsibility, and the Juvenile Death Penalty, 58 Am. Psychologist 1009, 1014 (2003)); *See also Graham*, 560 U.S. at 68.

Adolescents' relative lack of control over their conduct and environment means that "their irresponsible conduct is not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult." *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 570.

Additionally, a young person's "inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or his incapacity to assist his own attorneys" also create a greater likelihood that a juvenile will be convicted of a more serious offense in circumstances under which an adult would only have sustained a less serious conviction. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 477-78 (*citing Graham*, 560 U.S. at 78; *J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 564 U.S. 261, 269, 131 S.Ct. 2394, 180 L.Ed.2d 310 (2011)).

Accordingly, sentencing courts are required to consider a juvenile's age before entering an LWOP sentence, regardless of whether s/he was convicted in juvenile or adult court. *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 19–20 (*citing Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2461-62; *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 53; *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 557).

Following the abandonment of the death penalty in Washington, an LWOP sentence presents the harshest punishment available to a criminal court. *State v. Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d 809, 833, 446 P.3d 609 (2019); *See also*

Moretti, 193 Wn.2d at 836-37 (Yu, J. concurring) (noting that the LWOP sentence's new status as the harshest penalty changes the proportionality analysis under art. I, § 14).

An LWOP sentence represents the "denial of hope." *Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d at 837-38 (Yu, J. concurring). It signifies judgment that a person is "irredeemable and incapable of rehabilitation." *Id.* Through the enactment of the POAA, the legislature has set the threshold for the "worst of the worst" who can be subjected to this most severe punishment at offenders who have been convicted of a "most serious offense" on three separate occasions in adult court. RCW 9.94A.570; RCW 9.94A.030(38).

But Mr. Vasquez has only been convicted of such an offense on two occasions since reaching the age of majority. If not for the fact that his case was declined to adult court when he was sixteen years old, he would not be subject to such a "denial of hope." RCW 9.94A.030(38)(a)(ii); RCW 9.94A.030(35). His first "strike" conviction, entered far before his brain was fully developed, should be categorically barred from being used to place him within the category of the "worst of the worst."

Art. I, § 14 of the Washington Constitution provides greater protection against cruel punishment than the Eighth Amendment in the contexts of juvenile sentencing and of three-strikes sentences. *Bassett*, 192

Wn.2d at 82; *State v. Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d 875, 887, 329 P.3d 888 (2014), *as corrected* (Aug. 11, 2014).

The state constitution categorically bars the imposition of an LWOP sentence for an offense committed by a juvenile. *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 90. This Court held in *Bassett* that the statute permitting LWOP sentences for young offenders was unconstitutional even though it required the sentencing court to consider youth as a mitigating factor. *Id.*

The "categorical bar analysis" applied in *Bassett* is also applicable to Mr. Vasquez's claim: that art. I, § 14 categorically bars the inclusion of a conviction entered against a juvenile as a later "strike" offense. *Id.* at 85 (discussing the application of the categorical analysis).

The first step of the art. I, § 14 categorical analysis is to determine whether there is a national consensus against the challenged sentencing practice. *Id.* at 85-86 (*citing Graham*, 560 U.S. at 61; *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 563; *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304, 312, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 153 L.Ed.2d 335 (2002).

Many states either do not have a three-strikes law or impose a sentence less severe than LWOP upon conviction for a third "strike" offense. *See Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d at 911 (Gordon McCloud, J., dissenting).

California is the only state that allows an adjudication from juvenile court to be counted as a "strike" leading to a later life sentence. Beth Caldwell, *Twenty-Five to Life for Adolescent Mistakes: Juvenile Strikes As Cruel and Unusual Punishment*, 46 U.S.F.L. Rev. 581, 622 (2012). A number of states have created explicit exceptions, prohibiting convictions of juvenile offenders from qualifying as "strikes" even when they are entered in adult court. *Id.* at 627-28.

Washington stands in a minority of jurisdictions permitting a conviction entered against a juvenile to qualify as a "strike" offense, leading to a subsequent mandatory LWOP sentence. *Id.*; *Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d at 911 (Gordon McCloud, J., dissenting). The first step of the categorical bar analysis under art. I, § 14 points to an emerging national consensus against the sentencing practice used in Mr. Vasquez's case. *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 85.

The second step of the categorical bar analysis requires a "judicial exercise of independent judgment," looking to the culpability of the offenders at issue, the severity of the punishment, and "whether the challenged sentencing practice serves legitimate penological goals." *Id.* at 87 (*quoting Roper*, 560 U.S. at 67).

As outlined above, evolving psychological and neurological research indicates that humans are inherently less culpable for offenses

committed as juveniles than for those committed in adulthood. *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 87 (*citing State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 695, 358 P.3d 359 (2015); *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 472; *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 68; *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 569-70).

Additionally, the nature of the adolescent brain and its desire for immediate gratification, combined with diminished capacity to engage in rational decision-making, leads many youths to accept plea deals that put "strike" offenses on their records in order to obtain other benefits, such as earlier release from custody. Caldwell, 46 U.S.F.L. Rev. at 610. Thus, later use of those juvenile "strikes" to impose a sentence of LWOP fails to address the true culpability of the offenders at issue.

In Washington, the three-strikes scheme draws a line between adjudications in juvenile court and convictions entered against juveniles in adult court, counting only the later as "strikes." *See* RCW 9.94A.030(38)(a)(ii); RCW 9.94A.030(35).

But recent jurisprudence regarding juvenile sentencing has all but eliminated that distinction for constitutional purposes because "children are different" regardless of which court system they encounter. *See Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 19-20 (*citing Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2461-62; *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 53; *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 557).

Critically, data demonstrates that the mechanism through which juveniles find themselves in adult court, the decline procedure, is employed in a racially disproportionate manner. *Washington State Juvenile Justice Annual Reports: 2010*, WASH. P'SHIP COUNCIL FOR JUVENILE JUSTICE, p. 190¹ (reporting significant racial disproportionality in the number of African American and Native American juveniles who are "declined" into the adult court system, compared to their representation in the state's population). This means that African Americans and Native Americans are more likely to be affected by the distinction between juvenile and adult courts in the POAA – and to find themselves with LWOP sentences based on convictions entered when they were juveniles -- because they are more likely to have their cases declined to adult court when they are children.

The outdated and racially discriminatory statutory distinction between juveniles adjudicated in juvenile versus adult court also weighs in favor of an exercise of independent judgment against the use of any conviction entered against a juvenile as a "strike" in Washington.

Finally, "the distinctive attributes of youth diminish the penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences" based on

¹https://www.digitalarchives.wa.gov/do/FB553F71EEDD5B8613C301E87ED90455.pdf (last accessed October 26, 2020).

offenses committed by juveniles. *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 88. This Court should exercise its independent judicial judgment against the use of any convictions entered against juveniles as "strikes" under art. I, § 14. *Id.* at 87.

This Court recently decided in *Moretti* that a conviction imposed on a young adult – over the age of eighteen -- can constitutionally contribute to an LWOP sentence. *Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d 809.

But the *Moretti* court explicitly declined to comment on whether the constitution would permit an LWOP sentence in a case like Mr.

Vasquez's:

We express no opinion on whether it is constitutional to apply the POAA to an offender who committed a strike offense as a juvenile and was convicted in adult court.

Id. at 821 n. 5.

This Court relied heavily in *Moretti* on the fact that the appellants in that case had not provided any information regarding whether offenses committed by young adults qualify as "strikes" in other states. *Id.* at 821. Rather, the petitioners pointed only to evidence that other states "overwhelmingly prohibit the use of *juvenile* offenses to drastically enhance later sentences under recidivist schemes." *Id.* (emphasis in original).

Because the petitioners in *Moretti* were not juveniles at the time of their predicate offenses, the Court found that authority unavailing. *Id.* But Mr. Vasquez was a juvenile – just sixteen-years-old — at the time of his first predicate offense. CP 14-22; Ex. SE-CC. As a result, the "categorical bar" analysis in Mr. Vazquez's case is drastically different from that in *Moretti*.

Evolving jurisprudence has provided greater protections under the Eighth Amendment and art. I, § 14 to young adults than was previously afforded. *See e.g. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680. But those safeguards are still not nearly as strong as the constitutional protection afforded to juveniles. *See e.g. Roper*, 543 U.S. 551; *Graham*, 560 U.S. 48; *Miller*, 567 U.S. 460; *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d; *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67.

Art. I, § 14 of the Washington Constitution should be read to place a categorical bar on the use of juvenile convictions as "strike" offenses, leading to mandatory LWOP sentences. *Id.* Mr. Vasquez's 1983 conviction from when he was sixteen years old should not have qualified as a "strike." *Id.*

This significant issue of constitutional law if of substantial public interest because it affects the rights of countless juveniles in Washington. This Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

VI. CONCLUSION

This Court's recent decision in *Moretti* left open the question of whether a conviction entered against a juvenile can constitutionally qualify as a "strike" offense, leading to an LWOP sentence. Mr. Vasquez's case presents the opportunity for the court to answer that question. This Court should accept review of Mr. Vasquez's case pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

This Court has also signaled its unanimous interest in addressing legal questions that could work to remedy the racial disproportionality that severely harms black Americans in the criminal justice system. *See*Supreme Court Open Letter (06/04/20) ("We must remember that even the most venerable precedent must be struck down when it is incorrect and harmful. The systemic oppression of black Americans is not merely incorrect and harmful; it is shameful and deadly.")

The fact that the decline procedure is used to disproportionately place Black and Native American children into adult court means that the section of the POAA permitting convictions entered against those children to count as "strikes" directly results in similar racial disproportionality in the imposition of the harshest sentence available in our state. This Court should grant review to remedy an unconstitutional practice – the imposition of an LWOP sentence based, in part, on conduct committed by

children – which negatively impacts Black and Native American Washingtonians at a disproportionate rate.