FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/29/2021 8:00 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 993769

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF

## WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

RICHARD VASQUEZ, JR., Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

#

### A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington.

### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

At issue is the court of appeals decision filed on December 10,

2020 in Division Three of the Court of Appeals.

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the court of appeals decision meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)?

### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Appellant, Richard Vasquez, Jr., was convicted of first degree burglary, two counts of first degree kidnapping, two counts of first degree robbery, first degree assault, second degree assault, and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 235-36. The convictions stemmed from the following facts admitted at trial:

In September of 2014, a 48-year-old adult male, Richard Vasquez, asked his long-time friend, Lawrence Quiroz, if he had any weapons and if he would help him do a home invasion robbery. RP 567-68.<sup>1</sup> Specifically, Vasquez wanted a pistol. RP 568. The home invasion had been planned for some time. RP 571.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Verbatim Report of Proceedings prepared by Joan E. Anderson will be referenced as "RP \_\_."

The targets were two older individuals who lived in West Valley. RP 548. Vasquez told Mr. Quiroz he was targeting them because they were older and would not put up a fight. RP 569. Vasquez also told him was targeting them for gold, money, jewelry, and similar items. RP 569. Vasquez wanted Mr. Quiroz to be a driver but Mr. Quiroz declined. RP 569 Later on, about two weeks prior to the robbery, Vasquez and another individual, Samuel Crafton-Jones, showed Mr. Quiroz the pistols they acquired. RP 570. Vasquez had a 9mm and Crafton-Jones had a .380. RP 571.

On the morning of October 1, 2014, Kristen Fork and her significant other, Robert Miller, got up around 5:30 in the morning and were getting ready for the day. RP 533. Ms. Fork had a landscaping business and planned to work with a client that day. RP 532-33. It was a beautiful fall day and she was excited to go to work. RP 533. She was in the master bedroom getting laundry ready. RP 532.

Mr. Miller was in another room watching the news. RP 534. At about 6:15 a.m., Mr. Miller heard a knock at the front door. RP 493. He opened the door and a Hispanic man, later identified as Richard Vasquez, was at the door. RP 494. Vasquez claimed his car was overheating. RP 494. Mr. Miller told him to stay where he was, and shut the front door. RP 495. Mr. Miller then went to the master bedroom and told Ms. Fork, that something was just not right. RP 495. He left and walked into the dining room, at which point Vasquez and another male, later identified as Samuel Crafton-Jones, came through his front door. RP 495. Crafton-Jones held up a gun to Mr. Miller's head and said, "I know you've got money. I know you've got gold." RP 496. Crafton-Jones threatened that he would kill both him and Ms. Fork and that he would kill the police. RP 496.

Both Mr. Miller and Ms. Fork were tied up and threatened repeatedly. RP 338-39, 497-98. Crafton-Jones pistol-whipped Mr. Miller in the back of his head. RP 497, 499. Both victims offered what little cash they had to Vasquez and Crafton-Jones. RP 503. Using a ruse, Ms. Fork was able to escape by jumping out of a bedroom window. RP 541-42. She made it to the front yard where she was pistol-whipped and threatened some more. RP 543-45. Both males kicked and hit her in the face, shattering her cheekbone and dentures. RP 544-45. She continued to yell for help. RP 544. A neighbor came out and Vasquez and Crafton-Jones ran for their van. RP 544. Despite being severely and permanently injured, Ms. Fork was able to memorize the license plate number for the van. RP 545-46.

One of the neighbors, David Gutierrez, woke up to Ms. Fork screaming loudly and heard a truck or van leaving in a hurry. RP 215, 218. He then saw Ms. Fork in the middle of the road. RP 215. She was bleeding profusely from her face and was covered in blood. RP 215. She told him, "Robbie is inside, and they beat him." RP 216. Mr. Gutierrez went to her house and found Mr. Miller walking with his hands tied tightly behind his back. RP 217. Mr. Gutierrez helped untie him. RP 217.

A neighbor called 911 at 6:38 a.m. RP 71, 545-6. Yakima Police Department Officer Hansen responded and contacted both victims. RP 75. Ms. Fork was bleeding from her head and had severe facial injuries, including open lacerations and multiple fractures. RP 75, 77, 102-03, 340-41, 434, 471-72. Mr. Miller also sustained facial injuries, including a detached retina and swelling around his face and the back of his head. RP 104, 110, 290, 311, 510, 516.

Officers observed a significant amount of blood in the front yard, along with a window screen and Ms. Fork's broken glasses and dentures. RP 104, 107-09, 116, 159, 236, 239, 282, 287-90, 329, 555, 561. Inside, the victims' bedrooms were in disarray and looked as if they had been rummaged through. RP 162, 237. A safe was open, coins and other items were strewn about the house, and drawers had been emptied out. RP 162-63, 165, 287-88, 291, 328-29, 342-43, 518. Mr. Miller reported that cash,

collectible coins, and a unique wristwatch were stolen from their home. RP 241, 248-49, 298.

The suspects left behind a dark knit cap and a purple medical-type glove in the master bedroom. RP 165, 240, 242, 282-83, 291-92, 328, 349-50, 515, 519. The cap and glove were later tested for DNA. RP 399-403. The cap contained DNA matching Vasquez's DNA. RP 400. The glove contained DNA matching that of Crafton-Jones. RP 403.

Officer Hansen stayed at the scene just long enough to get a suspect description. RP 79. That description was "two suspects, possibly Hispanic males, approximately 30 years of age." RP 81. The getaway vehicle was a Ford Aerostar van, license plate AFS8595 registered to Tracy Ellis. RP 81, 120, 129, 134, 231, 345-46.

Two Union Gap police officers, Officer Way and Officer Edwards, went to Ms. Ellis' home at 2115 South Tenth in Union Gap and located the van at 6:45 a.m. RP 90, 120-21, 221-22. The hood of the van was still warm. RP 223. Using a flashlight, the officers saw an empty firearm holster in the van. RP 124, 223, 246-47, 299, 347.

Shortly thereafter, they saw two males, Vasquez and Crafton-Jones walking about thirty feet away from the van. RP 81, 90, 124, 225. The officers approached with guns at low ready and ordered them to stop walking. RP 125, 225. At 6:46 a.m., eight minutes after the 911 call,

Officer Edwards called on the radio that they had two at gunpoint. RP 229. Crafton-Jones was hesitant and did not comply right away. RP 225. Both suspects denied driving the van or knowing who was driving. RP 125. Vasquez began sweating and stated that they had been "tweaking" in a graveyard all night. RP 126.

By 6:49 a.m., Vasquez and Crafton-Jones were both in custody. RP 71. A stun-gun, black gloves, stocking hat, change, including foreign coins, and jewelry were found on Crafton-Jones. RP 127, 226, 308-10, 332-35, 442, 444. Some of the coins were similar to those seen on the floor of Mr. Miller's bedroom. RP 241, 287. Mr. Miller was transported to the location, which is about a three-minute drive from his home, and positively identified both Vasquez and Crafton-Jones as those involved in the home invasion robbery. RP 83, 92, 112, 132, 144, 146, 507. Mr. Miller and Ms. Fork also later positively identified Vasquez in court. RP 507, 537.

Officers found a blue coat in the back yard of the Union Gap address. RP 180-82, 363, 368. The coat had keys and jewelry inside of it, including a necklace and a watch with the initials R.W.M. RP 180, 363, 368-70. Mr. Miller identified the keys and watch as his items. RP 521-22. Next to the coat was Vasquez' identification card. RP 182, 363-64.

Multiple search warrants were executed, including warrants for the Union Gap property and the van. RP 84, 146, 157, 169-70, 195, 256, 299-300, 444, 477. In a camp trailer on the Union Gap property, detectives found mail addressed to Vasquez. RP 177, 183, 188. Vasquez had been staying in the trailer for about one month. RP 376. Detectives located a functioning Smith & Wesson 9 mm Luger firearm in a five-gallon bucket near a basement door. RP 174-6, 178, 197, 302, 304, 362-3, 365-6. The magazine and handgun were swabbed for DNA and DNA profiles on each matched that of Ms. Fork. RP 407.

In the van, officers saw a small silver-colored piece of jewelry on the driver's seat and a purple glove on the passenger-side floorboard that was similar to the one left behind in the victims' bedroom. RP 246-48, 347, 358. The black nylon gun holster was collected as well. RP 479-80. The registered owner of the van reported that she would let Vasquez and others drive the van. RP 377.

Photos were taken of Vasquez while he was in custody. RP 191-93. The photos showed a red discoloration on his hands, and a red staining at the end of a finger consistent with blood evidence. RP 192-93, 437-8. In addition, photos were taken of his shoes. RP 353-55. The shoes tested positive for the presence of blood. RP 404. When deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) was extracted from the shoes, the major DNA component matched Ms. Fork's DNA. RP 405.

Yakima Police Department's Forensic Lab Supervisor, Kristen Drury, processed the victims' home for fingerprints but none were recovered. RP 156-7.

The case proceeded to trial. The defense did not call any witnesses. RP 617.

The jury deliberated and Vasquez was convicted of first degree burglary, two counts of first degree kidnapping, two counts of first degree robbery, first degree assault, second degree assault, and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 235-36. He was sentenced to a total term of life imprisonment without the possibility of release or parole. CP 238. The life sentence was based on his two prior convictions for second degree assault, 03-1-01768-5, and first degree robbery while armed with a deadly weapon, 83-1-00019-4. CP 237; Sent. Ex. CC.<sup>2</sup> Vasquez pled to the prior robbery charge when he was sixteen years of age. Sent. Ex. CC.

Vasquez appealed and his convictions were affirmed. He now seeks discretionary review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The exhibits admitted during the sentencing hearing will be referenced as "Sent. Ex. \_."

### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

# 1. Vasquez provides no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Vasquez claims that under article 1, section 14 of the Washington Constitution, his first degree robbery conviction, committed when he was sixteen years old, is categorically barred from qualifying as strike offense for his current sentence. This issue was decided by the Court of Appeals in *State v. Teas*, 10 Wash. App. 2d 111, 131, 447 P.3d 606, 618 (2019), review denied, 195 Wash.2d 1008 (2020). In *Teas*, the court held that such a sentence did not violate article 1, section 14. 10 Wash. at 131. The court first set forth the framework used for assessing a categorial bar challenge:

> ...we consider "(1) objective indicia of society's standards to determine whether there is national consensus against sentencing those [of a particular class] to mandatory life imprisonment and (2) our own understanding of the prohibition of cruel punishment." This second step requires this court to consider "the culpability of the offenders at issue in light of their crimes and characteristics, along with the severity of the punishment in question' and 'whether the challenged sentencing practice serves legitimate penological goals.""

*Id.* at 133 (citations omitted). Working within that framework, the court first found that there was no national consensus against sentencing adults

as persistent offenders when their predicate offenses were "youthful." Id.

at 134. The Court of Appeals cited to State v. Moretti:

Recently, our Supreme Court held that "[a]rticle I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution does not require a categorical bar on sentences of life in prison without the possibility of parole for fully developed adult offenders who committed one of their prior strikes as young adults." *State v. Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d 809, 814, 446 P.3d 609 (2019). And review of other jurisdictions' statutes and case law does not show a national consensus against sentencing adults as persistent offenders when their predicate offenses were "youthful." Rather, several jurisdictions have rejected this very argument.

*Id.* at 134. Second, the court held that punishing an adult as a persistent offender when a predicate offense was youthful does not contradict the penological goals of Washington's Persistent Offender Accountability Act. *Id.* Punishing an adult for continuing to commit violent crimes after being given the chance for rehabilitation supports the penological goal of separating repeat offenders from the rest of society. *Id.* at 135.

Division Three was correct in following Teas when it affirmed

Vasquez' convictions. The Court of Appeals stated:

Here, Vasquez was 48 years old when he and his accomplice robbed an elderly couple, repeatedly threatened to kill them, and assaulted the woman. The mitigating factors of youth were not applicable when he was sentenced for those crimes.

*State v. Vasquez,* No. 36281-7-III, 2020 WL 7258650, at \*6 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 10, 2020) (unpublished).

### F. CONCLUSION

This case does not meet any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). First of all, the decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals. Second, a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is not involved. Lastly, the petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Division Three of the Court of Appeals was correct in following *Teas.* As such, the petition for review should be denied.